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University-level training of state officials for the economic needs of the state in the 18th century required the creation of new specialized fields, the so-called Cameralist sciences. The aim was to educate experts for financial administration and also in areas that generated revenue, including mining.
The initiative to establish higher education in mining sciences was put forward at the beginning of 1762 by Tadeáš Peithner, an administrator at the Main Mint Office in Prague. He prepared a proposal and sent it to Vienna. A special commission that assessed his initiative recommended to Empress Maria Theresa that the new higher school be established in Banská Štiavnica. On 13 December 1762, Empress Maria Theresa reviewed the proposals of the special commission of the Court Chamber concerning the founding of this school and appended her decision:
“I approve not only the proposal that a practical school be established in Banská Štiavnica, but I likewise order that the philosophical faculties impart more knowledge of the mining sciences to youth, in the German or provincial language, and that all who are interested be admitted to this instruction. In addition, let Peithner be appointed professor of all the mining sciences in Prague, and let funds be released to secure this instruction.
Maria Theresa.”

Financing
The Mining Academy thus came into being by the will of Empress Maria Theresa and from the outset was a state (fiscal) institution placed under the Court Chamber for Minting and Mining in Vienna. This chamber—the highest authority for mining administration in the Habsburg Monarchy—decided key personnel and financial matters: it appointed professors, approved new chairs, and oversaw the scholarship agenda (i.e., whom to admit, to whom to grant support, etc.).
Such subordination meant that routine operations, professors’ salaries, the establishment and maintenance of chairs, laboratories, and collections were covered from state resources—from the budget of the mining administration managed by the Court Chamber (and through it a linked network of mining-count offices). To understand this practice, it is important to know that mining administration was an integral part of the state’s cameral economy—that is, the state directly owned and operated mines and smelters, and from their revenues also financed the technical education that was to “supply” it with qualified officials.
From the very beginning of instruction in 1764, there were no tuition fees at the academy. Thus, a student’s financial circumstances did not affect admission conditions. Scholarships of 150–300 gulden were provided to students by chamber offices, private mine owners, the Hungarian Royal Lieutenancy Council, various donors and patrons, and other organizations.
Students of the Mining Academy in Banská Štiavnica in the 18th and 19th centuries were divided into several groups according to the status of their studies, using terms such as:
1. Regular attendees (ordinarii)
· Students duly enrolled in the full course of study according to the curriculum.
· Usually those aiming to become specialists in mining, metallurgy, or forestry.
· Required to meet certain educational and language prerequisites.
2. Extraordinary attendees (extraordinarii)
· These students did not complete the entire program but only selected subjects or courses.
· Often people who already had some practical experience in mining or another technical field and wanted to supplement their education in specific areas.
· Not bound by the full curriculum.
3. Voluntary attendees (voluntarii)
· Listeners who attended instruction voluntarily without formal enrollment or only with partial enrollment.
The First Chair
On 9 March 1763, the appointment of the first teacher was decided—Nikolaus Joseph Jacquin, who was appointed as teacher of chemistry (“zum Lehrer der Chemie zu Schemnitz”). Based on Empress Maria Theresa’s decision, on 13 June 1763 his salary was set at 2,000 gulden per year plus a free apartment in Banská Štiavnica. Jacquin was simultaneously appointed a mining councillor.
Organization of the Academy
An interesting source on the academy’s first decades is a memorandum by Franz Joseph Müller von Reichenstein, a councillor of the Court Chamber in Vienna. The memorandum is kept in the Austrian State Archives in Vienna, in the Hofkammer department, in the archival collection Münz- und Bergwesen. The material has no title; the archival note states that it concerns the Mining Academy in Banská Štiavnica.
Müller von Reichenstein’s material was produced in 1817. The memorandum was intended to reform and improve the training of mining specialists in the Habsburg Monarchy.
On pages 1–47, the memorandum describes the historical development of the academy in detail. It sets out the organization of the academy. First, it analyzes the founding of the Mining Academy in Banská Štiavnica. After the establishment of the first chair, the Chair of Metallurgical Chemistry (1763), Empress Maria Theresa permitted the founding of a second chair, the Chair of Mechanics and Hydraulics. This chair was “lent” (as the memorandum puts it) to the Jesuit Mikuláš Poda with an annual salary of 200 gulden. Poda was not granted the title of mining councillor.
On 2 April 1770, Maria Theresa permitted the establishment of a third chair, namely the chair of mining sciences and mining law. It was specifically ordered that attention also be paid to the teaching of forestry. The Empress also permitted the elevation of the Banská Štiavnica mining school to the status of an academy. In the margin of the file Müller also gives the source—the file no. 1416 from the year 1770.
Thus, the official procedure was again observed. First, a commission convened and formulated proposals for the sovereign. The Empress read the proposals and wrote her decision on 2 April 1770. On the basis of her decision, the Court Chamber acted and issued the well-known Court Chamber Decree (Hofkammerdekret), published by Schmidt in his edition. The decree is dated 14 April 1770. This date is generally considered the foundation of the Chair of Mining Works. Sometimes this milestone is regarded as the establishment of the Mining Academy in Banská Štiavnica, since it was precisely then that the local higher school was elevated to an academy.
At that time, the purchase of the Belházy House in Banská Štiavnica for the academy was authorized. A staffing statute for the academy, prepared by court councillor Bartholomäus von Gersdorf, was approved. Also approved was an increase in the salary of the deputy mine surveyor at Vindšachta, tied to the obligation to teach academic mining students drawing and mine surveying.
The staffing statute is titled Systema Academiae Montanisticis (1770). Based on this statute, we can form a precise idea of instruction at the academy. Teaching in the first year began with mathematics and physics. In 1770 these were taught by the Jesuit Mikuláš Poda. The subject matter was divided into theoretical and practical parts. In the practical part of this first year, emphasis was placed on technical drawing. In addition, it was ordered that students become familiar with practical matters directly in the mines, where they were to descend underground every other week.
In the second year, instruction focused on mineralogy and metallurgical chemistry. The professor was Giovanni Antonio Scopoli. The course began with lectures on the fundamentals of chemistry. Tools, techniques, and methods of work in the chemical laboratory were systematically presented. This was followed by instruction in assaying metals. Professor Scopoli not only lectured theoretically but demonstrated the material through experiments and generally trained students in laboratory work. The theoretical part concluded with instruction on metallurgy. Practical exercises were conducted in the chemical laboratory. The main aid for teaching mineralogy was the mineral collection. Students also trained directly in metallurgical plants.
The third year focused on mining sciences and mining law. The professor for the third year was the former assessor of the Banat mining directorate, Traugott Delius. The theoretical part covered various technological knowledge of mining extraction processes, mining transport, etc. Models of machines and equipment were used in lectures. In the practical part, students worked in various mining operations.
Students were required to prepare written reports on their practical training in mines and smelters, which are preserved in the Slovak Mining Archive in Banská Štiavnica. They submitted these reports to the relevant professors at the end of the year. In this way, students also gained skills in administration.
In 1770 the following were also confirmed: for the first year (mathematics and physics), the Jesuit Mikuláš (Nicolaus) Poda; for the second year (mineralogy and metallurgical chemistry), the mining councillor Dr. Scopoli (with a note that Scopoli took the position of Jacquin, who had been called to the University of Vienna as professor of chemistry).
Further, based on the minutes of the commission meeting, for the third year—mining sciences and mining law—the then assessor of the Banat mining directorate, Traugott Delius, was appointed. Delius also received the title of mining councillor and a corresponding salary.
On 12 January 1771, the then deputy mine surveyor Johann Fierer was appointed chief mine surveyor with a salary of 598 gulden. With this salary he received corresponding additional emoluments. Among his obligations was the duty to teach mining trainees (the term then still used for the academy’s listeners) drawing and mine surveying.
There is also a note that previously the deputy mine surveyor received a salary of 364 gulden, with the duty to teach mining trainees. The bonus he received for this (86 gulden) was thereby saved, since instruction was then carried out by the chief mine surveyor, who no longer received any extra pay for teaching.
On 25 October 1771, at his own request, Mikuláš Poda was dismissed, and in his place another member of the Society of Jesus, the Jesuit Karl Thierenberger, was appointed as teacher of mechanics and hydraulics (interestingly, the terms mathematics and physics give way here to mechanics and hydraulics).
On 31 March 1772, by supreme decision (as the memorandum states), Traugott Delius was appointed councillor of the court commission at the Court Chamber in Vienna. In his place in Banská Štiavnica, as teacher of mining sciences, mining law, and forestry, Tadeáš Peithner—the hitherto teacher in Prague—was appointed. In Banská Štiavnica, Peithner was to receive an annual salary of 1,500 gulden plus the perquisites connected with the title of mining councillor. By this step, the chair of mining sciences in Prague was abolished.
In 1774, Professor Peithner’s books and minerals were taken over for the needs of the Academy.
In 1776, Tadeáš Peithner was appointed councillor of the Court Chamber’s mining commission in Vienna. His chair in Banská Štiavnica—the chair of mining sciences, mining law, and forestry—was, due to the absence of a sufficiently qualified person, entrusted to the professor of geometry and mechanics, the former Jesuit Karl Thierenberger (it is interesting that Müller keeps using new terms for the name of this chair, as if the chair names had not yet stabilized in this period), together with the title of mining councillor and with a supplement of 500 gulden to his previous salary (earlier he had an income of only 200 gulden). (Thus the title of court councillor probably meant a 500-gulden supplement.) As a Jesuit, Thierenberger had previously been unable to be a mining councillor and could receive only the small salary of 200 gulden. In 1773, however, the Jesuit order was dissolved. As a former Jesuit, Thierenberger could now accept the title of mining councillor and receive a higher salary.
Thierenberger then lectured both in mechanics and hydraulics (mathematics) and in mining sciences, mining law, and forestry. “Thus there were again only two professors at the school,” Müller adds laconically—namely Thierenberger for the 1st year, Scopoli for the 2nd year, and Thierenberger for the 3rd year.
Teaching Aids
The first teaching aids of the new higher mining school in Banská Štiavnica were taken over from its predecessor—the so-called Mikovíni Mining School. These included, for example, the school’s library, which contained some essential technical handbooks. The first regular librarian was Karl Thierenberger. During his tenure, the library underwent its first significant expansion.

Chemical Laboratory
The first chair at the higher mining school in Banská Štiavnica was the chair of chemistry, mineralogy, and metallurgy. Nikolaus Joseph Jacquin was appointed as the first professor on 13 June 1763. Jacquin also received the title of mining councillor (a 500-gulden supplement). Jacquin arrived from Vienna in September 1763. He was originally to begin lecturing that same autumn. After familiarizing himself with the site and conditions, he asked the Court Chamber to postpone the start of lectures by one year. He wished to get to know the environment, visit mining and metallurgical works, and above all needed to set up a teaching chemical laboratory. It turned out that the state did not own in Banská Štiavnica a sufficiently large building where he could be housed, lecture, and at the same time have the planned chemical laboratory. Such a building had to be rented. The most suitable proved to be the house of the widow of former mining master Schmidt, known after its previous owner as the Krecsmáry House. The house stood at the upper end of Banská Štiavnica, was large enough, and the ground-floor rooms could accommodate a chemical laboratory. Jacquin considered the establishment of the laboratory extremely important, as “Theory, if not connected with experimentation, has no justification.” At the same time, he built up a mineralogical collection as a teaching aid for mineralogy.
In his new residence, in the Krecsmáry House, he set up a lecture room on the upper floor. The chemical laboratory was on the ground floor. It had a special chimney for venting harmful fumes, a constant source of running water, and special furnaces with mechanically forced air for assaying experiments.
With this system and manner of teaching chemistry—applying teaching methods that were new for the time—the chemistry chair of the Banská Štiavnica higher school became a pioneer of modern chemistry teaching. It holds priority in instructional practice for employing experimental work through regular laboratory exercises closely linked to theoretical preparation.
Models of Machines
Various models of technical equipment were also used as teaching aids at the Mining Academy in Banská Štiavnica. The first such models in Banská Štiavnica are encountered in connection with proposed new solutions and inventions of the Hell family, who demonstrated their new constructions on models before expert commissions and sometimes before members of the imperial court. These included new devices for pumping mine water, power machines, etc. Models from this period have not survived.
The Mining Academy in Banská Štiavnica built up a rich collection of models of technical equipment for the teaching of mining, mineral processing, and metallurgy. Some are today in Hungary, others in the Slovak Mining Museum in Banská Štiavnica. Thanks to the arrival of Professor Peithner from Prague to Banská Štiavnica, the model collection was further enriched. Their care, as well as the production of new models—mainly for third-year teaching—was entrusted, for a small bonus, to the machinery overseer of the state-run mines. The models were initially housed in the Komorský Dvor (Kammerhof) and later in the Belházy House.
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